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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

v. 

DOUGLAS EDELMAN, 
Defendant. 

Criminal Action No. 24-239-1 (CKK) 

MEMORANDUM OPINION 
(December 11, 2024) 

Defendant Douglas Edelman is alleged to have orchestrated one of the largest tax-evasion 

schemes in American history.  Following his arrest in Spain, Edelman was transferred to the United 

States and released to the supervision of the Pretrial Services Agency.  Later, the Government 

moved for revocation of Edelman’s release on the basis of pretrial violations.  After a hearing, and 

upon consideration of the parties’ submissions, the relevant legal authority, and the entire record 

before it,1 the Court orally ordered that Edelman’s release be revoked and that Edelman be detained 

pending trial.  See Min. Order (Dec. 11, 2024).  The Court summarized on the record the factual 

findings and legal conclusions underlying that order.  This Memorandum Opinion relates those 

findings and conclusions in further detail.   

1 The Court’s consideration focused on: 
• The Indictment, ECF No. 1;
• The Pretrial Violation Report, ECF No. 39;
• The Government’s Motion to Revoke Order of Pretrial Release, ECF No. 45 (“Gov’t’s Mot.”);
• The Declaration in Support of the Government’s Motion by Adam Soline, ECF No. 45-1 (“Soline Decl.”);
• Copies of Edelman’s messages, redacted versions of which are attached to the Government’s Motion, ECF

Nos. 45-2, 45-3, and full versions of which the Court has reviewed in Chambers;
• The parties’ representations at a hearing on November 27, 2024, ECF No. 44 (“Nov. 27 Tr.”);
• Edelman’s Response and Objection to the Government’s Motion, ECF No. 46-1 (“Def.’s Opp’n”), which the

Court granted Edelman leave to file under seal;
• The Government’s Reply in Support of its Motion, ECF No. 49 (“Gov’t’s Reply”), which the Court granted

the Government leave to file under seal; and
• The representations of the parties and the Pretrial Services Agency at a hearing on the Government’s Motion

on December 11, 2024.
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I. BACKGROUND 

A. Edelman’s Alleged Criminal Conduct 

In May 2024, a grand jury returned a thirty-count indictment charging Edelman with one 

count of Conspiracy to Defraud the United States, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371; two counts of 

False Statements to the Internal Revenue Service (IRS), in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1001; fifteen 

counts of Tax Evasion, in violation of 26 U.S.C. § 7201 and 18 U.S.C. § 2; and twelve counts of 

Willful Violation of Foreign Bank Account Reporting Requirements, in violation of 31 U.S.C. 

§§ 5314, 5322(b), 18 U.S.C. § 2, and associated regulations.  The factual allegations supporting 

those charges are extensive.  In short, the Government alleges that Edelman perpetrated a decades-

long scheme to defraud the United States of tax revenues by concealing his earnings in an intricate 

web of financial entities across the globe and by lying to regulators along the way.   

Together, Mina Corporation and Red Star Enterprises (“Mina/Red Star”) form the nucleus 

of Edelman’s alleged scheme.  See Indictment ¶ 2.  The Government alleges that Edelman, 

leveraging connections in Kyrgyzstan and Russia, formed Mina/Red Star as a defense contracting 

enterprise that would support U.S. military operations in Afghanistan and the Middle East.  Id. ¶¶ 

20–23.  Edelman allegedly owned 50% of Mina/Red Star and profited handsomely from the more 

than $7 billion in government contracts the firm won providing jet fuel to the U.S. Department of 

Defense.  Id. ¶¶ 2, 20–22.  From the start, Edelman is alleged to have routed his income from 

Mina/Red Star through nominee entities and foreign banks to avoid detection by the IRS.  Id. ¶ 36.  

Then, to defuse a 2010 Congressional investigation into Mina/Red Star, Edelman allegedly 

concocted the false story that his wife and Co-Defendant Delphine Le Dain—a French national—

owned the firm.  Id. ¶ 36.  For the next decade, Edelman allegedly maintained that lie through false 

statements and filings to U.S. authorities and foreign banks before finally selling his stake in 
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Mina/Red Star in 2020.  Id. ¶¶ 51, 55–56.  All told, the Government alleges that Edelman evaded 

taxes on more than $350 million of income from Mina/Red Star and its related entities.  Id. ¶ 52.   

B. Edelman’s Arrest and Release 

On July 3, 2024, Spanish authorities arrested Edelman in Ibiza, Spain at the United States’s 

request.  ECF No. 5 at 2.  After a period of detention in Spain, Edelman was surrendered to the 

custody of the U.S. Marshals Service and transported to the United States.  Gov’t’s Mot. at 3.  On 

September 3, 2024, Edelman appeared in the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia for 

arraignment by Magistrate Judge Moxila A. Upadhyaya.  Min. Entry (Sept. 3, 2024).  Having 

negotiated conditions of release with Edelman’s counsel, Gov’t’s Mot. at 3–4, the Government did 

not request that Edelman be detained pretrial, Min. Entry (Sept. 3, 2024).  Instead, Magistrate 

Judge Upadhyaya entered an order releasing Edelman to the supervision of the Pretrial Services 

Agency subject to monitoring under the High Intensity Supervision Program.  See Order Setting 

Conditions of Release, ECF No. 16 (“Release Order”).   

Magistrate Judge Upadhyaya’s Release Order also set a series of conditions that Edelman 

acknowledged on the record.  Release Order at 1–4.  Among other things, Edelman was required 

to surrender his passport, submit to GPS monitoring, restrict his movements to within one mile of 

his residence, and post an unsecured bond of $12.9 million.  Id. at 1–3.2  Most relevantly, 

Magistrate Judge Upadhyaya ordered that “[e]xcept for his wife, Delphine Le Dain, Defendant 

shall have no direct contact (other than contact through legal counsel) with the co-conspirators 

named or identified in the Indictment.”  Id. at 2.   

On September 26, 2024, the Government sent Edelman’s counsel a letter identifying all 

alleged co-conspirators described in the Indictment.  Gov’t’s Mot. at 4.   

 
2 Edelman also acknowledged on the record that failure to comply with his conditions of release may result in the 
forfeiture of his bond.  ECF No. 16-1 at 1–2.  The Court does not address that issue here.   
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C. Alleged Violations and Procedural History 

On November 21, 2024, the Pretrial Services Agency notified the Court that, in its view, 

Edelman had violated a condition of his release.  Pretrial Violation Report, ECF No. 39.  

Specifically, Pretrial Services reported that Edelman had contacted the individual identified in the 

Indictment as Co-Conspirator 3 via text message on October 12, 2024.  Id. at 3.  In light of that 

alleged violation, Pretrial Services recommended that the Court issue a judicial directive that 

Edelman comply with his conditions of release.  Id. at 4.   

At the Court’s request, Pretrial Services furnished a copy of the offending text message in 

the form of a screenshot of Co-Conspirator 3’s cellphone opened to a WhatsApp conversation 

between Co-Conspirator 3 and an unsaved number.  See ECF No. 45-2.  That screenshot showed 

a message to Co-Conspirator 3 from the unsaved number dated October 12, 2024.  Id. at 2.  Pretrial 

Services represented that the unsaved number belongs to Edelman.  After reviewing the message, 

the Court scheduled a hearing on the alleged violation.  Min. Order (Nov. 21, 2024).3 

Less than an hour later, the Court received an email from the Government, with defense 

counsel copied, advising the Court of another potential violation of Edelman’s release conditions.  

The Government represented that Edelman had also engaged in text message conversations with 

Robert Dooner, the individual identified in the Indictment as Co-Conspirator 4.  Attached to the 

Government’s email were a series of screenshots from Dooner’s cellphone opened to a 

conversation on the messaging app Signal between Dooner and a user saved in Dooner’s phone as 

“de.”  See ECF No. 45-3.  The messages between Dooner and “de” begin on September 7, 2024 

and end on October 22, 2024 when “de set disappearing message time to 1 day,” indicating that 

the application would automatically delete each message 24 hours after it was sent.  Id. at 2–13.  

 
3 The Court initially scheduled the hearing for November 26, 2024.  Min. Order (Nov. 21, 2024).  Due to defense 
counsel’s unavailability, the Court then continued the hearing to November 27, 2024.  See Min. Order (Nov. 22, 2024).   

Case 1:24-cr-00239-CKK     Document 53     Filed 12/12/24     Page 4 of 20



5 

The Government informed the Court that Pretrial Services received a copy of the messages, which 

Pretrial Services later confirmed.  On inquiry from the Court, Pretrial Services reported via email 

that it would not submit a second violation report and that it had “no stance on whether to support 

detention or not due to the intricacy of the violations and the case.”   

The parties appeared for a hearing on November 27, 2024.  Min. Order (Nov. 27, 2024).  

The Court began by reminding Edelman that a condition of his release was that he “shall have no 

direct contact” with co-conspirators identified in the Indictment.  Nov. 27 Tr. 2:12–16.  Edelman 

apologized to the Court for his conduct and admitted he “was wrong.”  Id. 2:21–22.  His counsel 

further responded that Edelman “accepts that this is a violation,” “accepts that it’s serious,” and 

had “deleted all the contacts off of his phone” as a show of good faith.  Id. 6:13–15.  On inquiry 

from the Court, Defense counsel suggested that replacing Edelman’s smartphone with a flip phone 

would be an appropriate remedial measure.  Id. 8:7–24.  The Court then recessed to allow the 

parties to discuss potential changes to Edelman’s conditions of release.  See id. 8:25–11:2.  

The parties could not reach an agreement.  The Government explained that Pretrial Services 

“is not able to monitor [Edelman’s] communications on devices,” which Pretrial Services 

confirmed.  Nov. 27 Tr. 12:7–8, 23:18–19.  The Government also took the position that restricting 

Edelman’s access to devices while on release would be impracticable.  See id. at 12:7–15.  In sum, 

the Government argued “[t]here is just no feasible way to monitor him given the ability to access 

the internet and all sorts of devices in this day and age.”  Id. at 12:15–18.  The Government then 

orally moved for revocation of release, and Edelman orally opposed that motion.  Id. at 13:2–7.   

The Court set a briefing schedule on the Government’s oral motion.  Min. Order (Nov. 27, 

2024).  The Government filed a written motion for revocation of release, a supporting affidavit, 

and exhibits.  See generally Gov’t’s Mot.  Edelman filed a written opposition with supporting 
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exhibits of his own spanning nearly 500 pages.  See generally Def.’s Opp’n.  And the Government 

replied.  See generally Gov’t’s Reply.   

The parties then appeared for a hearing on the Government’s motion on December 11, 

2024.  At the hearing, the Government represented that it would rely on its written submissions.  

Edelman’s counsel offered to discuss certain cases cited in the Government’s Reply.  The Court 

had reviewed those cases and required no further information because those cases were generally 

irrelevant to the Court’s analysis.  After hearing from Pretrial Services, the Court orally granted 

the Government’s motion, ordered that Edelman be detained, and explained in summary form the 

factual and legal bases for its ruling. 

II. LEGAL STANDARD 

“In our society[,] liberty is the norm, and detention prior to trial or without trial is the 

carefully limited exception.”  United States v. Salerno, 481 U.S. 739, 755 (1987).  The Bail Reform 

Act of 1984, 18 U.S.C. § 3141 et seq., authorizes one such exception:  A person released pending 

trial who has violated a condition of his release is “subject to a revocation of release” and “an order 

of detention.”  18 U.S.C. § 3148(a).  Under that statute, and on the Government’s motion, the 

Court “shall enter an order of revocation and detention” if, after a hearing, it: 

(1) finds that there is–– 
 

(A) probable cause to believe that the person has committed a Federal, State, 
or local crime while on release; or 
 

(B) clear and convincing evidence that the person has violated any other 
condition of release; and  

 
(2) finds that–– 

 
(A) based on the factors set forth in section 3142(g) of [Title 18], there is 

no condition or combination of conditions of release that will assure 
that the person will not flee or pose a danger to the safety of any other 
person or the community; or 
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(B) the person is unlikely to abide by any condition or combination of 

conditions of release.  
 

Id. § 3148(b).  Where, as here, the Government submits substantial new evidence to support its 

motion for detention, the Court conducts its review de novo and without deference to the initial 

order of release.  See United States v. Munchel, 991 F.3d 1273, 1280 (D.C. Cir. 2021); United 

States v. Maucha, No. 21-cr-322, 2023 WL 4131016, at *2 (D.D.C. June 22, 2023) (CJN).   

 As to the first of the two sets of alternative findings necessary to support revocation of 

release (18 U.S.C. § 3148(b)(1)), the Government does not argue Edelman committed a crime 

while on release.  See Gov’t’s Mot. at 11.  As such, the Court assesses only whether there is clear 

and convincing evidence that Edelman violated a condition of release.  18 U.S.C. § 3148(b)(1)(B).   

As to the second set (18 U.S.C. § 3148(b)(2)), the Government argues that both alternative 

findings are satisfied.  Gov’t’s Mot. at 13, 20.  Because the Court granted the Government’s motion 

under Section 3148(b)(2)(B) only, the Court need not address the standard under Section 

3148(b)(2)(A).  See United States v. Manafort, 897 F.3d 340, 345 (D.C. Cir. 2018) (“Either finding 

provides an independent basis for detention . . . .”).   

Section 3148(b)(2)(B) requires the Court to assess whether Edelman “is unlikely to abide 

by any condition or combination of conditions of release.”  The D.C. Circuit has not established 

the evidentiary standard applicable to that assessment.  See Manafort, 897 F.3d at 344 n.1, 346 n.2.  

And neither party addresses the issue.  Both the Second and Fifth Circuits have adopted a 

preponderance-of-the evidence standard.  United States v. Aron, 904 F.2d 221, 224 (5th Cir. 1990) 

(“[A] district court’s finding that a defendant will not abide by any conditions of release may be 

established by a preponderance of the evidence.”); United States v. Gotti, 794 F.2d 773, 778 (2d 
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Cir. 1986) (similar).4  For the reasons explained by those courts, the Court assesses whether a 

preponderance of the evidence establishes that Edelman is unlikely to abide by any condition or 

combination of conditions of his release.   

III. FINDINGS & ANALYSIS 

 After considering the parties’ written and oral submissions, the present record before it, the 

representations of Pretrial Services, and the relevant law, the Court granted the Government’s 

motion for revocation of release and ordered that Edelman be detained.  Below, the Court sets 

forth its findings and analysis in detail.   

A. Edelman Violated His Release Conditions 

First, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3148(b)(1)(B), the Court finds that there is “clear and 

convincing evidence that [Edelman] has violated [his] condition[s] of release.”  Specifically, the 

Court finds that Edelman violated the condition that, “[e]xcept for his wife, Delphine Le Dain, 

Defendant shall have no direct contact (other than contact through legal counsel) with the co-

conspirators named or identified in the Indictment.”  Release Order at 2.   

Contact with Co-Conspirator 3.  As explained, the first violation brought to this Court’s 

attention was memorialized in a screenshot of a WhatsApp conversation between Co-Conspirator 

3 and a WhatsApp user with an unsaved number.  See ECF No. 45-2.  Consistent with the 

representations of Pretrial Services and the Government, Edelman concedes that he was the 

WhatsApp user who sent the messages from the unsaved number.  Def.’s Opp’n. at 17.  Further, 

the Court finds that Edelman knew the identity of the person described pseudonymously in the 

 
4 District courts from other circuits have followed suit.  See, e.g., United States v. Jittaphol, 598 F. Supp. 3d 22, 27 
(D. Mass. 2022); United States v. Richardson, No. 17-cr-24, 2022 WL 2442299, at *5 (W.D. Pa. June 21, 2022); 
United States v. Slade, No. 04-cr-1492, 2013 WL 2455926, at *5 (D. Ariz. June 5, 2013); United States v. Carr, 
No. 11-cr-112, 2012 WL 3262821, at *9 (N.D. Ill. Aug. 9, 2011); United States v. Holden, 04-cr-80112, 2004 WL 
7331459, at *9 (S.D. Fla. Oct. 4, 2004).  
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Indictment as Co-Conspirator 3—and thus knew he was prohibited from contacting that person.  

The Government and Edelman agree that he and Co-Conspirator 3 have shared a close personal 

and professional relationship for years.  Id. at 18; Soline Decl. ¶¶ 5–8.  Edelman’s messages to Co-

Conspirator 3 predating the Release Order show that he understood that Co-Conspirator 3 was 

involved in the case against him.  See ECF No. 45-2 at 1 (“Shame we are banned from being 

friends and talking even.”).  And the violative message from Edelman to Co-Conspirator 3 was 

sent on October 12, 2024, id. at 2—weeks after the Government furnished Edelman’s counsel with 

a letter identifying all alleged co-conspirators, Gov’t’s Mot. at 4, and more than a month after 

Edelman was ordered not to contact such persons, Release Order at 2 (issued Sept. 3, 2024).  

Accordingly, the Court finds by clear and convincing evidence that Edelman knowingly and 

willfully violated his conditions of release by contacting Co-Conspirator 3 on October 12, 2024.   

That said, the offending message itself is relatively anodyne.  In the message, Edelman 

wishes Co-Conspirator 3 well and mentions that he is watching a baseball game in which Co-

Conspirator 3 would have an interest.  ECF No. 45-2 at 2.  Co-Conspirator 3 does not respond.  Id.   

Contact with Co-Conspirator 4.  Edelman’s other violations—contacting Robert Dooner, 

the person identified as Co-Conspirator 4 in the Indictment—are significantly more serious.   

These violations are documented in a series of screenshots from Dooner’s cellphone 

opened to a weeks-long conversation in the encrypted messaging application Signal.  See ECF 

No. 45-3.  Dooner’s correspondence is with a Signal user saved as “de.”  Id.  Those are Douglas 

Edelman’s initials, and Edelman admits that he is the user identified as “de.”  Def.’s Opp’n at 8.   

The conversation between the two begins on September 7, 2024, see ECF No. 45-3 at 2, 

weeks before the Government formally informed Edelman that Dooner is Co-Conspirator 4, see 

Gov’t’s Mot. at 4.  But the Court finds by clear and convincing evidence that Edelman knew at all 
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relevant times that Dooner was Co-Conspirator 4 and that he had been ordered not to contact 

Dooner for that reason.  The parties agree that Dooner and Edelman have shared a long personal 

and professional relationship, Def.’s Opp’n at 18; Soline Decl. ¶¶ 13–14, and this relationship 

would have allowed Edelman to identify Dooner as Co-Conspirator 4 from the information 

included in the Indictment, see Indictment ¶ 8(d).  Dooner also entered into a public cooperation 

agreement with the Government in 2023.  See Plea Agreement (ECF No. 14), United States v. 

Dooner, 23-cr-314 (CKK).  And Edelman’s messages to Dooner reveal that Edelman knew Dooner 

was among the persons he was barred from contacting.  See, e.g., ECF No. 45-3 at 5 (“Seems we 

should not communicate at all.”).  For these reasons, the Court finds by clear and convincing 

evidence that Edelman knowingly and willfully violated his conditions of release when he 

contacted Dooner on September 7, 2024, and that he continued knowingly and willfully violating 

those conditions by contacting Dooner repeatedly over the ensuing weeks. 

This string of violations is particularly serious because of the content of Edelman and 

Dooner’s conversation.  After some initial pleasantries and personal news, Edelman begins 

discussing financial matters.  ECF No. 45-3 at 2–3.  He explains to Dooner that one benefit of his 

pretrial release is that “I can finally work from here on all the trust and biz matters.”  Id. at 3.  

Edelman relates that the individuals managing the “[t]rust are being horrible frankly” and that their 

behavior creates “a serious issue” that he is “trying to help get . . . sorted out.”  Id.   

The Court finds, based on the evidence in the present record, that the trust to which 

Edelman refers is Galactea Trust, an entity that holds the assets at the heart of this litigation.  

Galactea is currently organized as a discretionary, irrevocable trust for the benefit of Delphine 

Le Dain—Edelman’s wife and Co-Defendant.  The Government asserts that Edelman structured 

the trust in this way to mask his ownership and control of the assets Galactea holds on paper.  
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Edelman disputes that characterization.  The Court does not now resolve that dispute—which will 

be a question for the ultimate factfinder.  But the parties agree, and the record supports the 

conclusion, that Galactea’s new trustee, Joanne Morse of Summit Trust International, has 

hampered Edelman and Le Dain’s access to Galactea assets.  The Court finds that this limit on 

access to trust assets was the “serious issue” Edelman told Dooner he was trying to sort out.   

Two days after Edelman told Dooner he was working on trust matters, Dooner reached out 

to Edelman with a request:  

Hey. I know you have a lot of irons in the fire, but do you think you might be able 
to help me with [P]alantir?  It’s stuck at CBH Bahamas and their compliance 
department doesn’t want to send to me (presumably because my name is toxic). . . . 
So may need to go back to Jo[anne Morse]/trust to insist that CBH do the right thing 
since CBH will only listen to the trust. 

I’m literally on fumes and [P]al[antir] is all I have.  Not to mention my family [is] 
about to kill me for their shares.   

ECF No. 45-3 at 5.   

Palantir is a software company, and the record shows that Dooner and his family own 

Palantir shares worth millions of dollars.  Those shares were held in an account at CBH Bahamas 

(the Bahamian branch of a Swiss bank) belonging to Satellite Support Services Limited (SSSL)—

a British Virgin Islands entity formed by Edelman and Dooner which is itself owned by Galactea 

Trust.  Dooner tried to convince CBH to release his shares in Palantir for some time, but CBH 

refused to do so because Galactea effectively controlled the shares (through SSSL) and because 

Dooner has been convicted of tax evasion.  With this context, the purpose and substance of 

Dooner’s request becomes clear:  Edelman told Dooner he was working to resolve the issue of the 

trust’s recalcitrance; Dooner also had an interest in resolving that issue; so Dooner asked Edelman 

to help solve his problem too and emphasized the importance of the Palantir shares to his finances 

and personal life.   
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 In his Opposition, Edelman stresses that Dooner—not Edelman—first broached the subject 

of releasing the Palantir shares.  See Def.’s Opp’n at 21–22, 40–45.  That fact is irrelevant to the 

question whether Edelman violated his release conditions.  Any message Edelman sent to Dooner 

was a violation, regardless of its context.  But Edelman’s characterization, if accurate, might 

diminish the severity of the violation.  After all, Edelman’s initial messages to Dooner had largely 

concerned personal matters.  Dooner’s request was an inflection point:  Edelman was faced with a 

request for financial assistance from an alleged co-conspirator he knew would likely be a witness 

against him at trial.  Edelman could have told Dooner that talking to him was a mistake and that 

he could not help procure a multi-million windfall for Dooner.   

 Instead, Edelman acknowledged that “we should not communicate at all” and promised 

that he “[w]ill however check with [D]ermot [Shortt and F]irdavs [Shakhidi],” two advisors to 

Galactea Trust who might convince the trust and CBH to release Dooner’s shares.  ECF No. 45-3 

at 5.  Then, after three days without a response from Dooner, Edelman—unprompted—reached 

out again to tell Dooner he was “[t]rying to see what can be done re [P]al[antir].”  Id. at 6.  Dooner 

expressed his gratitude.  Id.  (“*[A]ny* help with [P]al[antir] would be awesome.”).  And Edelman 

assured Dooner that he was “[w]aiting [for] [D]ermot to get back” to him.  Id.   

 About a month later, and after discussing Edelman’s problems with the trust’s management 

of his own investments, Edelman again raised the subject of Dooner’s Palantir shares unprompted: 

“Hopefully [P]alantir gets sorted. . . . Hopefully some changes soon as trust is just horrible 

overall!”  ECF No. 45-3 at 11.  When Dooner told Edelman the problem was with CBH rather than 

the trust, Edelman responded: “As for cbh let’s see… maybe there is a way.”  Id.  Two weeks later, 

on October 17, 2024, when Dooner told Edelman he was having problems with the trustee, 

Case 1:24-cr-00239-CKK     Document 53     Filed 12/12/24     Page 12 of 20



13 

Edelman responded that the trustee “needs to be replaced” and that he “[w]ill keep you [Dooner] 

posted” on an effort to effect that replacement.  Id. at 13.   

On October 22, Edelman changed the settings in Signal so that messages in the 

conversation would disappear one day after being sent.  ECF No. 45-3 at 11.  No further messages 

are visible, but Dooner has reported that Edelman continued to text him after October 22.  Soline 

Decl. ¶ 27.  Then, in November 2024, CBH released the Palantir shares to Dooner.   

 Edelman characterizes his correspondence with Dooner as a misguided but innocuous 

conversation among old friends.  See Def.’s Opp’n at 18–22.  He admits—as he must—that he 

discussed the Palantir shares with Dooner.  Id.5  But he minimizes the import of that discussion by 

arguing he had no actual influence over the trust or CBH.  Id. at 40–42.  And he stresses that the 

Government has not come forward with documentary evidence showing that he actually caused 

CBH or the trust to release the Palantir shares to Dooner.  Id. at 42 (“Correlation is not causation.”).  

In short, Edelman contends that he foolishly reached out to a friend because he was lonely, 

sympathetically expressed hope that his friend’s financial problem would be resolved, and, in the 

spirit of friendship, politely offered assistance that he could not give.   

 The Court reads the messages differently.  Although Dooner first raised the Palantir shares, 

Edelman opened the door to that subject by discussing his work on the trust—an entity central to 

this litigation.  Edelman knew that Dooner had a significant financial interest in the trust.  And he 

knew that he should not have discussed the trust with Dooner.  Nonetheless, Edelman repeatedly 

promised an alleged co-conspirator and cooperating witness that he would help secure him millions 

of dollars by coordinating with advisors to the trust.  Edelman’s contention that he actually lacked 

 
5 This admission is grudging, though.  Edelman claims that he only “brought [Palantir] up once.”  Def.’s Opp’n at 40–
41.  That is trivially true:  A keyword search of the messages for the word “Palantir” would show that Edelman used 
the term once.  But Edelman discussed “Pal” (an abbreviation referring to Palantir) repeatedly and raised the subject 
of the shares twice without prompting from Dooner after lapses in the conversation.   
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any influence over the trust (a contention belied by Dooner’s repeated requests that Edelman exert 

such influence), does nothing to reduce the problematic sting of those messages.  Even assuming 

Edelman could not actually deliver, his promise to resolve Dooner’s financial woes standing alone 

could have influenced Dooner, who made clear that securing the Palantir shares was critical to his 

financial stability.  ECF No. 45-3 at 5 (“I’m literally on fumes and [Palantir] is all I have.”)  And 

Edelman’s messages appear to have affected Dooner, who responded jubilantly when Edelman 

indicated he would help.  Id. at 7 (“*[A]ny* help with [Palantir] would be awesome.”).   

 In sum, the Court finds that Edelman’s conversation with Dooner was a grave violation of 

his release conditions because—at minimum—Edelman told a cooperating witness that he would 

help secure him a financial windfall and curried favor with that witness in the process.  

B. Edelman Is Unlikely to Abide by Any Condition or Combination of Conditions of 
Release 

Next, having reviewed the present record and the parties’ submissions, the Court finds by 

a preponderance of the evidence that Edelman “is unlikely to abide by any condition or 

combination of conditions of release.”  18 U.S.C. § 3148(b)(2)(B).  Specifically, the Court finds 

that Edelman is unlikely to refrain from contacting his alleged co-conspirators.  Four 

considerations compel that conclusion.   

First, the timing and context of Edelman’s violations suggest he will not stop contacting 

his alleged co-conspirators under any combination of release conditions.  Edelman was ordered 

not to contact individuals identified in the Indictment as co-conspirators on September 3, 2024.  

See Release Order at 3–4.  He broke his promise to abide by that order and contacted Dooner just 

four days later.  ECF No. 45-3 at 2.  Nor was that initial violation an isolated incident.  Edelman 

contacted Co-Conspirator 3 about a month later.  ECF No. 45-2 at 2.  And in total, Edelman 

violated the condition that he not contact alleged co-conspirators at least 29 times in just the first 
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46 days of his pretrial release.  See id. (one message to Co-Conspirator 3); ECF No. 45-3 (28 

preserved messages to Dooner).  Worse still, Edelman committed these violations while subject to 

one of the most restrictive possible forms of pretrial release: High Intensity Supervision with home 

detention.  See Release Order at 2.  Edelman’s nearly immediate, repeated, and consistent disregard 

for the Release Order in the face of close supervision by Pretrial Services leaves the Court with a 

firm conviction that he is unlikely to be deterred from further violations moving forward.  See 

United States v. Mattocks, No. 22-cr-226, 2022 WL 16635245, at *4 (D.D.C. Nov. 2, 2022) (RDM) 

(finding defendant’s 6 violations over a 4-day period while on High Intensity Supervision made it 

unlikely he would follow conditions of release).   

Second, the nature and circumstances of Edelman’s violations further support the 

conclusion that he is unlikely to abide by his release conditions.  To the Court’s knowledge, 

Edelman has not violated any condition of release other than the condition that he not contact his 

alleged co-conspirators.  But that is no an ancillary provision of the Release Order.  Rather, 

Edelman violated a central condition of his release tailored specifically to the unique circumstances 

of his case.  See Release Order at 2 (writing in the condition rather than simply checking a box).  

Although his contact with Co-Conspirator 3 was relatively innocuous, the Court concluded above 

that Edelman’s conversation with Dooner was a particularly serious violation.  That is because his 

actions—discussing subjects integral to the case and promising Dooner financial assistance—

strike at the core purpose of his release condition: avoiding any possibility that he could influence 

potential witnesses against him.   

Nor is there any doubt that Edelman knew he was prohibited from contacting his alleged 

co-conspirators.  The Release Order is unequivocal in its prohibition.  In the Court’s estimation, 

Edelman is an intelligent man with sophisticated counsel.  And Edelman demonstrated openly and 
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repeatedly in his conversation with Dooner that he understood they were not supposed to 

communicate except through counsel.  E.g., ECF No. 45-3 at 3 (“I know we can’t talk [about] the 

‘case’ . . . .”); id. at 5 (“Seems we should not communicate at all.”).  Edelman’s decision to contact 

Dooner and Co-Conspirator 3 anyway reveals a flagrant disregard for his Release Order.   

Edelman’s use of the messaging application Signal to contact Dooner further aggravates 

the severity of his violations.  Signal is an end-to-end encrypted messaging platform, meaning that 

only the sender and recipient can access and read messages sent through the app.  Soline Decl. 

¶ 25.  And it also allows users to cause their messages to disappear even from the recipient’s device 

after a certain period of time.  Id. ¶ 26.  Edelman suggests that he used Signal to contact Dooner 

because it is cheaper than texting rather than because of its potential usefulness for clandestine 

communication.  See Def.’s Opp’n at 17 & n.3.  But the Court does not credit that explanation.  

Edelman could have used WhatsApp—which is also free, see id.—to converse with Dooner.  

(Indeed, Edelman used WhatsApp to send his less problematic message to Co-Conspirator 3.)  

Instead, Edelman used Signal and affirmatively availed himself of the app’s automatic deletion 

feature, which ensured that no record of his communications with Dooner after October 22 were 

preserved.  Had Dooner and Co-Conspirator 3 not revealed the conversations to their attorneys, 

none of Edelman’s violations would have come to light.   

In sum, Edelman knowingly and willfully violated a core condition of release and did so 

in a manner that suggests a deliberate effort to avoid detection.  Those circumstances leave the 

Court with serious doubts about Edelman’s willingness to comply with any combination of release 

conditions moving forward. 

Third, Edelman’s demeanor and lack of credibility undermine the likelihood that he would 

comply with any conditions of release.  Edelman has admitted to violating the Release Order and 
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apologized to the Court for doing so.  See Nov. 27 Tr. 2:21–22, 6:13–15.  But the Court assigns 

limited weight to this confession of error, which came only after Edelman’s interlocutors told their 

attorneys about his violative conduct and after this matter was brought to the Court’s attention.  

Indeed, Edelman’s messages reveal that he intended to continue violating the Release Order before 

he was caught.  See ECF No. 45-3 at 13 (“Will keep you posted[.]”).   

Likewise, the Court is not convinced that Edelman appreciates the severity of his 

violation—notwithstanding his counsel’s assurance that he “takes it very seriously.”  Nov. 27 

Tr. 6:21–22.  Edelman has attempted to minimize the gravity of his violation and shift the blame 

to others through semantic games and obfuscation.  See, e.g., Def.’s Opp’n at 40–41 (contending 

inaccurately that Edelman only “brought [Palantir] up once” and “promised nothing”).  His 

messages show disrespect for the Release Order.  E.g., ECF No. 45-3 at 4 (bragging to Dooner that 

his legal team “pushed back and won” favorable release conditions); id. at 6 (violating his release 

condition by telling Dooner that the condition “[m]akes no sense to me”).  And his demeanor in 

court, shaking his head and audibly scoffing at the Government, evince a sense of contempt for 

these proceedings as a whole.  Cf. Tr. of Oral Ruling (ECF No. 37) 6:21–24, 8:20–22, United 

States v. Fellows, 21-cr-83 (TNM) (noting “the defendant was smirking and rolling his eyes 

throughout the hearing”), aff’d, 2023 WL 3645549 (D.C. Cir. 2023).   

At bottom, Edelman asks the Court to trust that he will reform.  But Edelman has proven 

himself untrustworthy on this issue.  The Court trusted Edelman to comply with the Release Order; 

he then violated that order within days and continued doing so for weeks until others reported him.  

The Government has proffered that there is substantial evidence that Edelman has a pattern of 

lying to and concealing information from authorities.  And, again, Edelman’s own messages reveal 

an intent to circumvent and undermine his conditions of release.  See ECF No. 45-3 at 6 
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(suggesting to Dooner that they could discuss any topic over the phone as long as “George 

[Edelman’s attorney] or someone [is] on the calls . . . just listening etc”).   

All told, the present record leaves the Court with the impression that Edelman is unlikely 

to respect this Court’s orders.  And given Edelman’s demonstrated untrustworthiness on this issue, 

the Court does not credit his promise to comply with any combination of conditions of release 

moving forward.   

Finally, the present record shows that Edelman’s initial release conditions and his proposed 

additional conditions cannot ensure his future compliance.  Edelman was subject to monitoring 

under the High Intensity Supervision Program.  But even that was insufficient to detect his 

violations.  Dooner and Co-Conspirator 3—not Pretrial Services or Edelman—brought those 

violations to the Government’s and the Court’s attention.  To be clear, this is no indictment of the 

efforts or diligence of Pretrial Services.  Rather, as Pretrial Services explained at the hearing on 

the Government’s motion, Pretrial Services lacks the capacity to monitor defendants’ phones and 

online activity.  Even if Pretrial Services could inspect Edelman’s phone, his use of encrypted 

messaging applications would likely frustrate their supervision.   

Moreover, merely seeing the messages is not enough to assess the extent of the violation 

or make recommendations to the Court.  It took two hearings and hundreds of pages of submissions 

from the parties for this Court to evaluate the context and import of Edelman’s messages to 

Dooner.  And Pretrial Services has reported that the complexity of Edelman’s violations and this 

case have inhibited their supervisory efforts.   

Edelman proposes that the Court adopt four additional conditions in lieu of detention: 

(1) that he delete all encrypted messaging apps from his phone and computer; (2) that he delete 

the contact information of all alleged co-conspirators; (3) that he receive random screenings of his 
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phone by Pretrial Services; and (4) that he meet with Pretrial Services weekly to ensure his 

compliance.  Def.’s Opp’n at 23.  But those conditions would also be insufficient to ensure that 

Edelman does not contact his alleged co-conspirators. 

As explained, Pretrial Services lacks the capacity to monitor Edelman’s electronic devices 

and thus cannot determine whether he is using encrypted messaging applications or with whom he 

is texting.  At the December 11 hearing, Edelman’s counsel conceded that Pretrial Services could 

not remotely monitor Edelman’s online activity but suggested that physical inspections of 

Edelman’s devices during his supervisory visits would be a sufficient alternative.  The Court 

disagrees.  Edelman could delete any prohibited application or contact to avoid detection during 

his visits and reinstall them later.  And even if Edelman presented Pretrial Services with compliant 

devices, it would be impossible to determine whether Edelman was violating his release condition 

on some other device.  Pretrial Services lacks the capacity to conduct home visits, monitor who 

enters Edelman’s residence, or determine what devices are available to him.  For that reason, even 

confining Edelman to his residence at all hours of every day could not guarantee that Edelman 

does not receive a different device with the prohibited applications and contacts.  Further, Edelman 

met with Pretrial Services weekly under his initial release conditions, and those meetings proved 

insufficient to detect and deter Edelman’s violations.  See Def.’s Opp’n at 23.   

Given the constraints on Pretrial Services’ resources and capacity, Edelman’s proposed 

conditions boil down to a request that the Court trust him to comply.  But Edelman has already 

abused this Court’s trust.  Therefore, and for all the reasons stated, the Court finds that Edelman 

“is unlikely to abide by any condition or combination of conditions of release.”  18 U.S.C. 

§ 3148(b)(2)(B).  On the present record, the Court concludes that nothing short of detention can 

ensure that Edelman will not contact his alleged co-conspirators.   
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IV. CONCLUSION 

The Court concludes that there is clear and convincing evidence that Edelman violated his 

conditions of release.  See 18 U.S.C. § 3148(b)(1)(B).  His violations were knowing, willful, and 

severe.  And the Court further finds by a preponderance of the evidence that Edelman is unlikely 

to abide by any condition or combination of conditions of release moving forward.  Id. 

§ 3148(b)(2)(B).  His monitoring under the High Intensity Supervision program proved 

insufficient, and after careful consideration, the Court concludes that Edelman’s proposed 

additional conditions would fare similarly.  As a result, the Court was required to, and did, order 

that the Magistrate Judge’s order of release be revoked and that Edelman be detained pending trial.  

See id. § 3148(b) (“The judicial officer shall enter” such orders.). 

Dated: December 11, 2024 

    /s/                                                                           
COLLEEN KOLLAR-KOTELLY 
United States District Judge 
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